certificate in architecture of the University of the Witwatersrand which thereby made the
holders thereof eligible for permission to practise in that country, This was a fitting
tribute to 20 years of work and achievement on the part of Professar G E Pearse ond to the
work and achievements of his remarkable cssistants, A S Furner and R D Martienssen, in
raising the standard of architectural educafion at Wits to a level comparable with that of
one of the leading countries of the world in the field of architecture. The University ack-
nowledged this tribute by appointing Professor Pearse as o member of its governing body,
the Council, on which he served during two of the most crucial years of the Second World
War, namely, 1942 and 1943, |n doing so he became the first member of the architectural
plloFession to serve on the Council of the University of the Witwatersrand and, indeed, up

till now, he is the only one to have done so.

As a result of the outbreak of the Second World War in 1939 student enrolment declined
during the war years, but in accordance with the Government's war policy, universffy
students were encouraged to complete their professional education and training before en-
listing for service. For this purpose Wits established its own University Training Corps as
a part-time unit of the South African Defence Force, the Training Corps being made up of
engineering, artillery and infantry units which provided part-time training for members of
staff as well as its student members, Moast of the teaching staff in the School of Archi-
tecture and Quantity Surveying joined the Engineering Section. But Martienssen and his
wife opted for and recefved their training in the Air Force Section, he as an officer in
that Section and she as the Officer Commanding the Womens' Auxiliary Unit. It was in
1942 whilst he was ottending a course at the Military College, Voorirekkerhoogte, near
Pretoria, as o member of the University Training Corps, that he suffered a fatal heart
attack. He was only 37 years of age at the time and his untimely death was a great loss
not only to the University of the Witwatersrand but to architecture and more particularly
to the cause o-F modern architecture which he pioneered in South Africa and, indeed, also
in the International field, both as a briltiant exponent thereof and as an extraordinarily

effective teacher.

From the academic standpaint, the war period was for Wits a pe;'iod of marking time. The
real effect of the 1939-1945 war made itself felt only at the beginning of the 1946
academic year when some 2200 returmed soldiers enrolled for courses in al! the Faculties
of the University, thereby increasing the total number of students from some 3150 in 1945

to some 5260 in the following year. This imposed a great strain especially upon the

14

g T

professional Fuculfies_y{h which the teachers were hard put to cope with the sudden increase
in student numbers and at the same time to maintain academic standards. Extra temporary
staff had to be employed and additional accommodation provided in the form of 13 tem-
porary hutments in the middle of the campus. The Faculty of Architecture did not escape
the inéonvenience of the disruption coused to academic routine during the immediote post-
war years, And, indeed, so great were the needs for accommodation due to the increose
in the numbers of students ofter the peck period immediately following the end of the
Second World War that some twenty five years were to elapse before the last of the

hutments were demolished and removed from the compus.

Notable amongst the extra temporary staff who were employed to cope with the extra-
ordinary increase in student numbers due to ex-service men enrolling for courses in the
Faculty of Architecture as in every other Foculty at Wits in the year following the end of

the Second World War, were the late R L Niebuhr, who served os o part-time Lecturer i

B

Architecture from 1945 to 1947; H N loubert, who was a full-time Lecturer in Archi-
tecture in 1946; the late A G Stewart, who served in that capacity from 1946 to 1948 and
shortly thereafter became one of the very few members of the architectural profession who
left it to enter the building industry as a building contractor; the late D E Pilcher, whe
was a part=time lecturer in Architecture from 1947 to 1949; ond E M (Betty) Spence and
her husbond C Pinfold, who become temporary full-time Lecturers in Architecture in 1945
ond 1948 respectively and served in this capacity until 1958, Of these temporary members
of staff all except C Pinfold were Wits architectural graduates, D E Piicher being awarded
the M Arch degree at Wits posthumausly in 1950,

In 1944 W A McKechnie of the firm Farrow Laing & McKechnie, Quantity Surveyors in
Johannesburg, succeeded Professor Bell-John as a part-time lecturer in the sub- deportment
of Quontity Surveying in the Faculty of Architecture and as the director of education and
training in that sub— department, and he served as such until the end of 1944, having been
assisted in that year by J W S Castleton who was employed at Wits at the time as a

temporary full-time Senier Lecturer in Quantity Surveying.

in anticipotion of the expansion of the national economy in the post-war period which, as
it furned cut, happened at o rate unequalled by that in any other western country excepting
the United States of America ond Canada and, in anticipation particularly of the need for

developing new towns as well as expanding existing urban centres throughout South Africa,
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“the Faculty of Architecture introduced in 1945 o postgraducte Diploma in Town Planning,

_for architects, civil engineers and land surveyors. The course for this Diploma was one of

two years' duration, but in 1949 it was extended to three years and wos made available
also to holders of BA and B Sc degrees with Honours in Geography and to halders of MA
and M Sc degrees whose dissertations for these degrees dealt with some branch of geography
related to Town and Regional Planning. As such, this Diploma received recognition by the
Royal Town Planning institute of Great Britain, which meant that holders of the Wits
Diploma were exempt from that Institute's final examinations, Wits thus initiated the first

town planning educaticn and training in South Africa.

At the some time and in response to the growing demand for courses in the History and
Appreciation of Arts, the Department of Architecture having olready for many years pro-
vided courses leading to the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honours in Fine Arts for
students outside the Department, the Department of Fine Arts was established as an auto-
nomous department in the Faculty of Arts, but under the gegis and contral of the Depart-
ment of Architecture, This development was to hove a significant influence on the courses
in design and on the work of the School of Architecture in these courses particulorly in
that, until the middle Sixties, due emphasis was given to visual education and training in
the principles of basic design and to the study of architectural histary, both of which have
since then largely been ousted by education and training of a strictly technological nature
in most if not all of the Schools of Architecture in this country. The Wits School has
nevertheless played a leading role in preporing its architectural students visually and
artistically as well as technologically fer the practice and production of architecture.
Indeed, with the exception of the years in the middle and late Sixties and the following
five years, the educational policy of the School, particularly since Professor A d'A M
Guedes was appointed to the Chair of Architecture and became its.Head in 1975, has
been and happily continues to be such that it enables the golden mean to be achieved and
maintained between fechnolqgical education and fraining on the one hand and visual and
uﬂisﬁc education and training on the other. This Is of fundamental importance to the
architectural profession, for without a proper and adequate artistic and visual education
and training and o close understanding of the fine arts it cannot but fail te satisfy the
society it serves or purports to serve ond in doing so it will not only cease to justify its
existence but will also eventually cease to exist os such, - In any case there is ne room
today for the old but still persistent prejudice that art and techrology are different and
incompatible interests. For although we, including also the rising generation of architects,

'
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quentity surveyars, building technologists and town and regional plenners, are divided by
schosling and experience and we differ, though we differ rather lass in cur aptitudes, we
nevertheless share un underlying busis of conmon ability which must be explared and ex-
ploited as far as possik:le if we are to succeed in developing und shaping cur world for
human purposes in accordance with human rights and values and aims rather than for lesser
ends. It is irue that as architects and town and regional plenners, our interest, for example,
in mathematics, has usually been killed by unimaginative tecching just as the visual and
artistic interest of many if nof most quantity surveyars and building technelogists has been
killed by the lack of intellectual and emotional pleasures of art in their education and
treining. So the sooner we learn to appreciate the complementary relationship of art and
technelogy and the forces thereof, the better able we shall be to unite in G common sen—
sibility ondynderstandingin order to determine how we can best help to broaden and liberate

our culture for all to participate and obtain fulfilment in it.

In 1947 the teaching staff of the Department of Architecture was ougmented by the appoint-
ment as a Lecturer in Architecture of a Wits graduate, G Herbert, who two years later was
to become an Associate Editor of the Scuth African Architectural Record and served as such
for 11 years'and wha in 1957 was to win the Sir Herbert Baker Scholarship and later became
Professor of Architecture and Deon of the Faculty of Architecture and Town Pl‘onning at the

Technion-lsrael Institute of Technology in Haifa, lsrael.

At the same time also in 1947 J W § Costleton succeeded W A McKechnie as o part-time
lecturer in the sub-department of Quantity Surveying in the Faculty of Architecture and as
the directar of education and training in that sub-department. During that year, N R Law,
also of the firm of Farrow Laing and MeKechnie, acted in J W § Castleton's place to enable
the latter to visit the United Kingdom. And in 1948 the staff of the sub- department was

augmented by the appointment as a part-time Lecturer in Quantity Surveying of R B Milford

' of the firm Venn and Milford, Quantity Surveyors,in Johonnesburg.

In 1947, too, Professor Pearse retired from the Chair of Architecture and in 1948 was ;suc-
ceeded in this office and as Head of the School of Architecture and Quantity Surveying by
his protégé Professor I Fassler. For some twenty-seven years Professor Pearse hod directed
and built up the School from its small beginnings into one of the leading Schools of Archi-
tecture in the British Commonwealth, of which South Africa was a foundation mermber. His

retirement marked the end of an era in architectural education and training at Wits and,
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indeed, also in this country. But in anticipating the post-war period of expansion
especially in the environmental field, by supporting and actively participating in the
establishment of the Deportment of Fine Arts and in the setting up of a postgraduate
diploma course in Town Planning ar Wits in the last two years before he relinquished his
office in the service of the University, he enabled the Faculty of Architecture to enter o
new era equipped ond prepared s fully as possible at that time to meet whatever demands

and challenges the new ero would bring.

In 1949 W G MclIntosh was awarded the Wits Diploma in Town Planning and s¢ became the
first university trained architect and quantity surveyor in South Africa to qualify also as o
tawn planner so trained. In 1949, toa, aofter two years of study at the Courtauld Institute
of Art in London, Heether Martienssen obtained the Ph D degree of the University of
London for a thesis on the Georgian architect Sir Williom Churﬁbers (1726 - 94) and two
years later she was appointed Senior Lecturer in the Department of Fine Arts in recognition
of its growing importance in the University and also in recognition of her exceptional
capabilities in directing and developing it especially during the critical wor years. Asa
lecturer both in thé Department of Architecture and in the Department of Fine Arts since
1941 she taught the Theory and Practice of Art, the Histery of Painting, Sculpture and
Architecture and also Art Criticism and in 1954 she became the Head of the Department of
Fine Arts. But this Department developed so quickly and effectively under her leadership
that in 1957 a Chair of Fine Arts was esfdblished to which she was immediately appointed
and with this appointment she won the distinction of being the first woman to become a

professor at the University of the Witwatersrand,

Meanwhile the teaching capacity of the Department of Architecture had been markedly
increased by the appointment in 1950 of o Wits graduate, J Morgenstern, as a lecturer who
in partnership with his wife, also aWitsarchitectural graduate, wos later to practise with
distinctian as an architect and town planner in Johannesburg and, in 1957, by the appoint-
ment of an additional Lecturer in Architecture in the person of E W N Mallows who eight
years later was to become the first Professor of Town and Regional Planning at Wits and
indeed, at the same time also, the first such professor in South Africa. In 1959 W D Howie
woas appointed an Associate Professor in recogniﬁon. of his service to the University which
then covered a period of 22 years, und in that year, too, J Beinart, an architectural grad-
vate of the University of Cape Town, joined the teaching staff a5 a lecturer in the Depart-

ment of Architecture where he served as such for six years, winning the Sir Herbert Baker
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Scholarship in 1941 'and then serving os the Professor of Urban and Regional Planning ot
the University of Cape Town from 1965 to 1970 since when he has been Professor of Archi-
tecture in the School of Architecture and Planning of the Massachusetts Institute of Tech-
nology, Boston, USA . At the end of 1958 J W s Castleton retired as a part-time lectyrer
and as the director of education and training in the sub-department of Quantity Surveying
in the Faculty of Architecture and in 1960 he was succeeded in the latter capacity by

R B Milford, his post as o part-time Lecturer in Gluantity Surveying having been filled in
1958 by the appointment of C Walker who, twelve years later, was to became the first
Professor of Quantity Surveying ot Wits, This appointment was followed in 194] by the

appointment of E M Pincus and M D Lennard as Lecturers in the Faculty's Department of
Architacture, ’

In 1959 the Faculty of Architecture and the Department of Fine Arts had moved to o home
of their own on the campus, o new building designed by Profassor J Fossler in association

with W D Howie, G Herbert, J Morgenstern, J Shunn ond U Tomaselli, all of whom at the

t
ime were members of the staff of the Department of Architecture., This was the first of the

buildings to be completed in the University's post-war building programme and it was named

and is known as the John Moffat Building, in tribute to Mr John Abram Moffat, o Johannes-

burg architect who died in 194] + having bequeathed some £ 100 000 which wos to be paid
s ]

to the University fifteen years after his death on condition that the fund be used for some

such purpose as o building, At the same time the main lecture theatre in this building was

nomed the Dorothy Susskind Auditorium in appreciation of Mrs Susskind's work os Chair-

person of the University Towns Festival held on the campus in 1955, in raising some £93 700

for the University. The building was @ notable addition to the Uni
teaching and study,

versity's facilities for |
<h comparable environmentally as well as architecturally to buildings of
a similar nature and purpose af universitias elsewhere throughout the western world a

feature of the facilities being the divisional library serving not only the Faculty of’Archi-

tecture and the Department of Fine Arts but also the University as a whole

Duri . . .
vring the Fifties, town plonning os a discipline in the Department of Architecture had

d .
made such progress that this was duly recognised when, in 1960, the Royal Institute of

British Architects'. Award for Distinction in Town Planning was made to the Head of th,
e

School i
ool of Architecture, Professor | Fassler, for his services to town planning education and

troiming | "
raining in South Africa. And by 1961 this discipline had developed to the extent that in

that ivisi
at year a division or sub- department of Town and Regional Planning was established
r
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which in 1965 was gronted full departmental status and a Chair of its own, to which
Professor E W N Mallows was then appointed. This resulted in the postgraduate diploma
course being augmented by a new undergraduate course of four years' duration leading to
the degree of Bachelor of Science in Town ond Regional Planning. Nine students enrolled
for this degree course when it commenced ond when the Department of Town and Regional

of Architecture

a fFull-

Planning became an autonomous and constituent department of the Faculty

in 1948, there were 24 undergroduate students taking this course and a staff of tw

time teochers in town and regional planning Yo educate and troin them. -

ding and allied industries of this country

Eurthermore, as the result of pressure from the buil
ation (South Africa) and with a

s a corporate body, namely, the Building Industries Feder

generous subvention from the Federation's National Development Fund for the Building
Industry in South Africa, @ four-year degree course leading to the degree of Bachelor of
965, with

stituted in the Department of Architecture also in 1

Science in Building, was in

men educated and trained to fill technical, executive

lied industriJ. The Fund's subvention was on

cience to be established, to which

the object of supplying the need for
and managerial roles in the building and al

an annual basis and enabled a Chair of Building 5
Dr D M Calderwoed, a triple groduate of the University of the Witwatersrand who, in
e distinction of becoming the First Doctor of Architecture in South Africa,

1953, gained th
was appointed in 196

&, having previously served as a research officer in the Nationol

Building Research Institute of the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research in Pretoric.
Only 10 students enrolled for this degree course when it commenced, the staff consisting of
. ane full-time and one part=time teacher. But five years later, when the division of
Building Science became an autonomous. and constifuent department of the Faculty of
- . Architecture in 1970, there were 106 students pursuing this course ond a staff of five full-

#

time dnd thrée port-time taachers 4o conduct it.

At the end of 1965 R B Milford, who had served the sub-deportment of Quantity Surveying

as a part-fima Lecturer in Quantity Surveying for eighteen consecutive years and os the

director of education and training in that sub=depariment For the lost six of those years,

retired ond was succeeded in the latter capacity by C Walker. At the same fime, too,
‘M D Lennard retired os a Lecturer in Architecture and joined in partnership with H N

Joubert afid ccC Igving-SmftHiqs practising erchitects in Johannesburg.

in 1967, that is, ten years 6go, when T J Olivier was appointed os a lecturer in the
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in their respective fields of work.

At the same fime, however, it would have to ensure that in preparing students for the
professional rarks of those industries, they would become architects, quantity surveyors,
building executives and manragers and town and regional planners who would understand
and appreciate one another's problems, outlocks, aims and opproaches and would be able
to communicate and colloborate with one another in o manner which is essential for those
industries to function efficiently and effectively in supplying the national building and
construction requirements. One of the most important advantages ta be gained from the
diversity and greater variety of the disciplines embroced by the Faculty and from the
growing inter-disciplinary links with the Faculty of Engineering, the Urban ond Regional
Research Unit, the Educational Technology Unit and the "service" departments, is that
henceforth their courses could be co-ordinated and made to serve so that the special needs
of each discipline would be duly fulfilled and o broater more integrated education would
be achieved. Certainly the greater inteliectual stimulus and cross-fertilisation of ideas
that are engendered by such education was beund to create mutual understanding, respect
and appreciaticn between the professional components of the building and construction

industries which could enly benefit therefrom.

Professor Howie lost no time in directing the aducational policy ond aims of the Faculty of
Architecture towards these ends, He immediotely went overseas o study courses then
being offered in Great Britain and in Eurcpe especially in the architectural field and
thereafter succeeded in transforming the Faculty's outlock, image and morale in o way
which augured well for its future development and indeed also for the future development

of education in architecture, building and planning in this country.

In 1949 Professor Mallows retired, by which time the Faculty had played such an important
part in the field of town and regional planning education and training that for the most
part the present generation of practising planners in this country had been trained at Wits
or had received their training from holders of the Wits Diploma in Town Planning and,
furtharmore, that every other university town or regional planning course in South Africa
hed either been derived from the Faculty's Department of Town and Regional Planning, as
in the case of the Universities of Natal and Pretoria, or hod been actively influenced by
that Department or its diploma holders, as in the case of the Universities of Cape Town,

Stellenbosch and Potchafstroom.
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During 1969 there was a further development in the structure of the Faculty of Architecture
in thot full departmental status was granted to building science under Professor D M
Colderwood and again, during 1970, in that such status was granted also to quontity
surveying under G W John, a Wits diplomate in quantity surveying wha was appointed an
Associate Professor in the Department of Quantity Surveying ond as the Head of that
Department in 1971. There were 65 quantity surveying students at the time and a staff of

two full-time and four part-time teachers in the Department of Quantity Surveying.

At the same time the Department of Building Science hod ployed an active part together
with the Building Industries Federation (South Africa) in creating the South African Institute
of Building which was established in 1970 to fulfill the need of the building industry in this
country for & professionol body of its own, with the main object of promoting the art,
science, technology ond practice of building and education in these fields and also of
sncouraging research, This body, whose membership consists, inter alia, of graduates,
students and professors and lecturers in Building and Building Science at a South Africon
university, enables a direct link to be maintained between the Department of Building

Science and the building industry as o corporate body.

Another important development ot this time in relation to the Faculty of Architecture and
particularly in relation to its Department of Town and Regional Planning was the creation
by the University of a Chair of Urban and Regional Studies to which Professor T J D Fair,
Professor of Geography at the University of Southern linois, USA was eppointed. This

Chair was the first of its kind in South Africa and was established at Wits for the purpose
of conducting research inta urben ond regional problems of the Witwatersrand and nearby

areas.,

In 1970, too, the teaching steff in the Department of Architecture was strengthened by the
appointment s « Senior Lecturer in Architecture of H M J Prins, a Wits architectural
graduate with many years of professional experience and a fine record of achievement
particulerly asa memberof the firm of Hanson Tomkin and Harris of Johannesburg and

Durban until be retired therefrom in order to devote himself to teaching architecture.,

But undoubtedly the most significant event of the year 1970 not only as fer as the Faculty
of Architecture but also as for as the University itself was concerned wes the conferment

of the B Arch degree on Abdool-Aziz Ahmed Tayob who thus became the first Indian to
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graduate with a degree in architecture in South Africa.

In 1971 J M Shunn, o member of the reaching staff in the Department of Architecture, was
appointed an Associate Professor in recognition of tha 25 years of service which he had by
then rendered in that Department and in the Faculty of Architecture and in that year, too,
the University acknowledged the service of UR Tomaselli, a teacher in the School of
Architecture for the same period at that time. 1971, however, was also the year of
Professor J Fassler's untimely death which was a severe blow to the University, the effects
of which were mitigated only by the fact that he had already completed his design of the
Senate House, and also by the fact that because the Wits 5chool of Architecture still
urgently needed teaching staff, the Urban Action Teaching Group offered its services os o
teaching group to the University and these services were gratefully occepted. This Group
was an offshoot of the Urban Action Group which had been formed some four years
previously by a few past students of the Wits School of Architecture, notably G J Gallag-
her, W O Meyer and | Schlapobersky, with the object of encouraging the sound development
of cities in South Africa both in their growth and in their renewal; of conferring with the
Institute of South African Architects ond also with the central and provincial governments
and local authorities in this country on matters of urban development and renewal; of con-
serving buildings and landscapes of aesthetic and histori col significance and of gathering
and disseminating information by means of lectures, seminars and papers etc., in support of
these cbjects. In 1971 and 1972 the Urban Action Teaching Group conducted the third-
year courses in Design end the History of Architecture and the students greatly benefited
thereby. The teaching by the members of the Group wos voluntary and the salaries which
accrued to it for this service were set aside as o fund, part of which was used to finance
the visit in 1970 of Robert Venturi and his wife Denise Scott-Brown of the USA as visiting
lecturers in the Depariment of Architecture. This teaching service fo the University by the
Urban Action Teaching Group was invaluable to the Wits School of Architecture, the more
so because it was most needed ot that time and it is undoubtedly the mast important
contribution the Urban Action Group has made since it was formed some ten years ago.
Notable amongst its members are B J Britz, S J Buffler, C D Burde, BS Cooke, CJ
Cooke, H O Frangs, G ] Gallagher, D Jack, P lones, A N Lange, R Leviton, C MA
Liber, W O Meyer, F'H Pienaar, P M 'Poploak, |1 C Prir_lsloo, S Rathouse, RV Rippon,
H J Schirmacher, | Schlapobersky, B Spooner, C Stretten, B Vloothuis and D Waldman.
As most of them are in the 35 - 45 years of age group, it is hoped that the Urban Action

Group will fulfil the promise it has shown in endeavouring to contribute to architecture
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and town planning end te architectural and town planning education and training in this

country and particularly in the Transvaal where most of its members are located.

After the retirement of Professor Mallows the Department of Town and Regional Planning
was directed by Acting Heads, J P Lea during 1970 - 1971 and J G Muller during 1971 -
1972. Upon the latter's resignation a committee consisting of Professors Mallows and Fair
and Drs Patricios ond Leg was set up to manage the Department, Dr Patricios was
appointed Chairman of the Governing Committee and Acting Head of the Department for
1973 with Dr Lea alternating in this capacity for portion of 1974. 1n April 1974 Dr Pat-
ricios was appointed to the Chair of Town and Regional Planning and became Head of the

Department.

At the end of 1973 Professor Howie retired due to failing health, He died in 1974, at the
age of 41, at a time when architectural education in South Africa, as indeed elsewhere
throughout the world, had come te be rigorously investigated and reviewed. The work of
the Commission of Inquiry ta investigate the Education and Training of Architects in South
Africa under the chairmanship of Dr T L Webh, appointed by the State President on 26
July 1974, is @ notable case in point. The findings and recommendations of the Commission
have still to be reported and made public and it is no exaggeration to say that Professer

W D Howie would have made a major contribution to them not only because of his great
knowledge and experience as an educater but also because of the depth of his perception,
the soundness of his judgement, the breadth of his vision, and, not least, the practicality
which he brought to bear on whotever problems he tackled. His untimely death was a great

loss to architectural education in South Africa.

More than two years elapsed after his retirement before he was succeeded in the Chair of
Architecture and os Head of the Department of Architecture. His successor was Professor
A d' A M Guedes who for 25 years had practised with distinction os an architect in Lourenc
Marques, Mocambique, ond, like his predecessors Professors J Fassler and W D Howie, had

groduated at Wits os a product of its Scheol of Architecture.

In 1973, too, Associate Professor John retired and was succeeded os Head of the Departmer

“of Quantity Surveying by Professor C Walker who was also appointed to the Chair of

Quantity Surveying which had been created in 1972, With this appeointment Professor

Walker, who for many years had proctised with distinction as a quantity surveyor in
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